I. INTRODUCTION

This is an adverse possession case. The Fergusons, Plaintiffs before the Trial Court and Appellants here, own a residence on Point White Drive on the southern end of Bainbridge Island. The properties owned by the Appellants are labeled Parcels A and B and, are on the left (West) side on Ex. 1 (*CP 711-713*), attached as Appendix 1. The residence is depicted on the lower half of Parcel B. The residence was constructed in 1987 by Christopher Slye, who also occupied the residence after completion. As described in Ex. 42, dated July 1990, (*CP 617-620*):

From the kitchen in his home on Bainbridge Island Washington, Christopher Slye enjoys 180 – degree views of Puget Sound’s quarter mile wide Rich Passage.

Mr. Ferguson purchased the residence from the Mr. Slye in 1994.

The McKenzies, Defendants before the Trial Court and Respondents here, own an unimproved parcel of real property immediately east of Parcel B.

The property subject to the adverse possession claim is depicted in Ex. 2; Appendix 2 attached hereto, shown as the cross-hatched area and referred to by the Parties as the “Disputed Strip.”¹ The east boundary of the Disputed Strip runs from a corner marker at the upper northeast corner of Parcel B (“found 1” iron pipe”) to a utility pole in the Point White Drive right of way (“tphone pole”) and bisects the McKenzie parcel. The

¹ Exs. 1 and 2 were also demonstrative exhibits. Both were admitted on Appellant’s Motion without objection (TP 5-7) but omitted from the list of admitted exhibits. Ex. 1 was also admitted as a defense exhibit. Both appear at multiple locations in the record, including Respondents’ Trial Brief at CP 63, 70, 78 and 79.

east west dimension of the Disputed Strip starting at the point marked 5.5' is about 60 feet based on the map scale of Ex. 1 (*CP 711-713*). A substantial portion of the view corridor to Rich Passage described in Ex. 42 (*CP 617-620*) is across the Disputed Strip.

This litigation was commenced in mid 2011 shortly after the McKenzies built a fence blocking the Fergusons' access from Parcel B to the Disputed Strip. Ex. 5 (*CP 575-576*), Ex. 6 (*CP 577-578*), Ex. 51 (*CP 625-626*), Ex. 53 (*CP 627-628*) and Ex. 54 (*CP 629-630*) taken during construction of the fence show the relationship between the residence, the Disputed Strip as delineated by the fence and the treeline, the pampas grass, the mature fir trees across Point White Drive to the south and, the view corridor across the Strip.²

There was no dispute that, prior to the construction of the residence, the Disputed Strip was covered with native vegetation. The Appellants contended that when Mr. Ferguson purchased the property in 1994, the Disputed Strip had been cleared of native vegetation and improved as a side yard including the planting of non-native vegetation, particularly pampas grass.

Initially, Respondents, relying on prior testimony of Mr. Slye by declaration, asserted that Mr. Slye did not alter the Disputed Strip during the construction of the residence:

Declaration of Christopher Slye- Paragraph 5:

² Please note the groups of fir trees in Ex. 51 (*CP 625-626*) and Ex. 54 (*CP 629-630*) are across Point White Drive. The same groups of trees appear regularly in the construction photos.

- a. In conjunction with the construction of Plaintiffs' residence, I did not clear, grade, fill and install improvements and landscaping in the Disputed Property.
- b. At the time I sold the property to D. Norman Ferguson, the Disputed Property was not cleared, graded or filled.
- c. At the time I sold the Ferguson Property to D. Norman Ferguson, no improvements or landscaping were installed in the Disputed Strip.

Defendants' Trial Brief at *CP 69*.³ In his opening, the Respondents' counsel stated that: "The McKenzies and Mr. Slye will testify -- ... that the entire disputed strip was completely covered with dense, lush, vegetation, all the way up until 2006." TP 13-14. Neither Mr. Slye nor the McKenzies so testified.

Instead, Respondents essentially impeached their own witness. Mr. Slye's testimony changed to: during the construction, he cleared, graded, filled, and constructed improvements, including a large rock retaining wall and underground electrical service on the Disputed Strip – with the permission of the Respondents. While Mr. Slye admitted to some landscaping, he denied it was in the Strip:

Q. Prior to the sale of the Ferguson property, did you plant anything on the Ferguson property?

A. Well, I planted some flowers and roses and pampas grass, plants.

³ The Declaration itself is *CP 18-36*.

TP at 83. Keep pampas grass in mind. The indisputable photographic evidence; Ex. 5 (*CP 575-576*), Ex. 6 (*CP 577-578*), Ex. 51 (*CP 625-626*), Ex. 53 (*CP 627-628*) and Ex. 54 (*CP 629-630*), was that the pampas grass was planted by Mr. Slye in the Disputed Strip as part of Mr. Slye's landscaping of the Strip after clearing grading and filling the Strip.

Mr. Ferguson's testimony was that the Disputed Strip had been cleared and planted with grass and pampas grass when he acquired the property. Mr. Ferguson's description of his activities in the Disputed Strip on and after 1994 is TP 142:16-146:7. Mrs. Ferguson's description of her activities after her relationship with Mr. Ferguson commenced are described at TP 177-182. After 1994 through 2004, the Fergusons used the Disputed Strip as any owner would use a yard.

Notwithstanding the volume of evidence to the contrary, the Respondents' contention was that the Disputed Strip was not cleared or landscaped until 2006 by the Fergusons. Therefore, the Fergusons could not establish the requisite 10 year period of possession.

In Finding 18, the Court states:

The Court accepts that the encroachment [by Mr. Slye during construction] was for a limited time and purpose and, after the construction, the area affected regrew and returned to its natural state by 1994. The Court is not persuaded that once Slye obtained permission to encroach, that he cleared the property and continued to occupy the disputed strip until the sale in 1994.

To reach this conclusion, the Court ignored the complete flip flop in Mr. Slye's testimony, extensive photographic evidence that the Strip had been cleared, graded and filled, Mr. Slye's testimony to the same

effect, and that Respondents failed to show “that the entire disputed strip was completely covered with dense, lush, vegetation, all the way up until 2006” (TP 13-14) and the complete lack of credible evidence that the Appellants cleared a portion of the Disputed Strip adjacent to the east side of the residence in 2006. That factual conclusion was the ultimate basis for the Court’s conclusion that Appellants’ failed to establish adverse possession.

With all due respect to the Trial Court, the Findings reached by the Trial Court were made despite the substantial evidence in the record of Appellants’ adverse possession of the Disputed Strip and despite the multiple and manifest inconsistencies in testimony of Respondents’ witnesses. What appears to have happened is that the Trial Court made a decision as to the credibility of the witnesses without consideration as to whether the testimony being offered was consistent with the photographic and other evidence.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Trial Court committed error by making Findings which are not supported by substantial evidence.

4. The Trial Court erred by admitting evidence relating to the period after 2004.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Are the Trial Court’s Findings supported by substantial evidence?

2. Did the Trial Court commit error by admitting evidence relating to the period after 2004?

3. Did the Appellants meet their burden of proof?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The first factual issue is: what was the “natural state” of the Disputed Strip before Mr. Slye’s construction of the residence? This is the base datum against which to compare the various photos discussed below. Mrs. McKenzie testified that the Disputed Strip “was *completely overgrown, lush vegetation*. ... Shrubbery, trees, you know as I mentioned, hollies. There are fruit trees. It was just as heavily overgrown as one expects in the Pacific Northwest of undeveloped land.” TP at 225 (emphasis added). Mr. Slye’s testimony is similar. According to Mr. Slye, the entirety of the Disputed Strip was vegetated including alder and some fir trees and, that the vegetation was sufficiently dense that the view from the South end of the Disputed Strip into the Disputed Strip would be “obscured by vegetation.” TP 32:15 – 34:8. The view across the Strip from the home site would also be obscured.

The second factual issue is: what was the condition of the Disputed Strip following Mr. Slye’s construction activities? Again, it was the Respondents’ initial assertion that there had been no construction activities in the Disputed Strip in 1987:

Declaration of Christopher Slye - Paragraph 5:

- a. In conjunction with the construction of Plaintiffs’ residence, I did not clear, grade, fill and install improvements and landscaping in the Disputed Property.
- b. At the time I sold the property to D. Norman Ferguson, the Disputed Property was not cleared, graded or filled.

- c. At the time I sold the Ferguson Property to D. Norman Ferguson, no improvements or landscaping were installed in the Disputed Property.

Defendants' Trial Brief at *CP 69*.⁴ In his opening, the Respondents' counsel stated that: "The McKenzies and Mr. Slye will testify -- ... that the entire disputed strip was completely covered with dense, lush, vegetation, all the way up until 2006." TP 13-14. "All the way up" – in other words, the Disputed Strip was covered in dense lush vegetation continuously from pre-1987 until 2006.

The Fergusons' contention was that Mr. Slye cleared and graded and maintained the Strip to improve his view. As the Trial Court noted in Finding 17, it was undisputed that some construction activities took place in the Disputed Strip. The Court states: "The fact there was construction does not prove that Slye had cleared and cultivated the Disputed Strip as the Fergusons claimed." *Id.* Appellants would agree that photographs taken during construction would not show "cultivation" but, the assertion that the evidence does not show that Mr. Slye cleared, graded and filled the Disputed Strip simply cannot be reconciled with the actual evidence.

When confronted with the actual evidence, these witnesses attempted to characterize the construction activities as limited in scope and extent, essentially attempting to ignore the obvious. This is simply not supported by the evidence.

What appears to be the earliest photo of the construction activity is Ex. 32 (*CP 610-611*), looking East and South from a position on Parcel B

⁴ The Declaration itself is *CP 18-36*.

in the location of the to be constructed deck across the Disputed Strip at the utility pole (“tphone pole”) on Point White Drive: TP 60-63. The field of view is the southern portion of the Disputed Strip. Mr. Slye testified:

Q. So that's a pile of grubbing debris there; isn't it?

A. It is.

Q. And that's all been cleared and graded in there, right?

A. It's been -- yeah. It's been cleared or graded, yeah.

Q. And do you see any *dense, lush vegetation*, mature fir trees, mature alder trees, any such stuff obscuring the view of the phone pole?

A. Not that pole, *no*.

TP 63 (emphasis added). Note the view of Rich Passage over the area of cleared ground. The pile of debris obviously consists of debris from fallen trees. Nevertheless, Slye testifies:

Q. Okay. Was [Mrs. McKenzie] concerned about any damage to the trees?

A. No. As long as we didn't take out any big fir trees.

Q. Was it clear to you that you were not to take out any big fir trees?

A. Correct.

Q. Did you damage any trees when you accessed the well?

A. No, I don't think so.

TP 86.

The bottom photo in Ex. 24 (*CP 602-603*) would be next in sequence based on the state of construction of the residence, looking Southeast across the floor plate of the house from above the location of the wellhead on Ex. 2.⁵ TP 64. Again, note the view of Rich Passage and the stands of mature fir across Point White Drive to the south. Based on Ex. 1, the boundary line would be 12.5 feet to the left of the Southeast (far left) corner of the floor plate. The field of view includes the south one-third of the Disputed Strip. The same utility pole seen in Ex. 32 (*CP 610-611*) can be seen between the rear of the orange van and the temporary electrical service. In this regard, in Finding 19, the Court found that “a temporary power source may well have been located in the Disputed Strip.” This is the temporary electrical service shown in the photo. The orange van is obviously well into the Disputed Strip on the far side of the temporary electrical service which is denuded of, rather than covered with, dense, lush vegetation.

The top photo in Ex. 20 (*CP 596-597*) faces southeast across the Disputed Strip to the left of the residence and the same temporary electrical service can be seen. As in Ex. 24 (*CP 602-603*), the whole of the Disputed Strip that can be observed in this photo is denuded of vegetation. Mr. Slye again agreed that the observable portion of the Disputed Strip is not covered in “dense lush vegetation.” TP 57:22 - 58:3.

⁵ The little circle connected to the line marked 100' R. If Ex. 24 (*CP 602-603*) is compared to Ex. 51 (*CP 625-626*) and Ex. 54 (*CP 629-630*), the large trees in the field of vision are across Point White Drive. See, also Ex. 25 (*CP 604-605*) and Ex. 46 (*CP 623-624*).

The left side of Ex. 21 (*CP 598-599*) is a photo taken of the west face of the uncompleted home. The field of view is to the southeast across the Disputed Strip and, looking through the windows, the orange van can once again be observed across the disturbed earth. Notice the lumber in front of the van. The upper right photo in Ex. 23 (*CP 600-601*) is a picture of the same thing taken from “immediately to the south of what's been marked as the deck here on Exhibit No. 2. ... looking towards the southeast again” across the Disputed Strip. TP 60. No “dense, lush vegetation.”

Ex. 18 (*CP 592-593*) and Ex. 19 (*CP 594-595*) both depict the East face of the residence looking West from inside the Disputed Strip. Note the large fir log in the foreground of Ex. 18 (*592-593*). Mr. Slye testifies: “But I was told not to cut any firs or madronas or any of the nice, beautiful, big trees, the alders. And I didn't take any big trees.” TP 85. Ex. 18 (*CP 592-593*) and Ex. 19 (*CP 594-595*) depict the same area from which Mrs. McKenzie would testify Appellants removed a mature fir and other trees in 2006, as discussed in more detail below.

Ex. 19 (*CP 594-595*) postdates Ex. 18 (*CP 592-593*) and, as Mr. Slye admitted, demonstrates that the property in view had been cleared, graded and filled. TP 53-54. Comparing the 2 photos, the amount of fill is significant. For reference, the boundary line in Ex. 1 is “5.5 feet” from the corner of the deck on the left of the photo. The actual dimension of the residence from the right hand corner of the carport to the corner of the deck on the left is 60 feet based on the scale on Ex. 1. On the same basis, the east-west dimension of the Disputed Strip at the

location from which the photo was taken is about 60 feet.⁶ As Mr. Ferguson testified, the fill depicted in this photo extends well into the Disputed Strip and remains in place to date. TP 126–127.

Ex. 25 (*CP 604-605*) is a view looking from West to East looking through the carport into the Disputed Strip at a bulldozer and front end loader. Based on the scale on Ex. 1, the boundary between the Ferguson Property and the Disputed Strip is ten feet from the corner of the house in the center of the photo.

Ex. 17 (*CP 590-591*) “is a picture taken from roughly Northwest of the residence looking to the Southeast across the carport into the disputed strip.” TP 47-49. The front end loader is also depicted in this photo.

Ex. 33 (*CP 612-614*) is taken from the top of the retaining wall looking directly North to the East of and directly up the property line. TP 39-43. The object in the very left hand corner of these duplicate photos is a monument just above the retaining wall at the South end of the boundary line marking the boundary line. The monument is partially buried in fill. The property line would run from the monument to a point 5.5 feet from the right hand side of the deck. Everything to the right of that line is fill which was in place when Mr. Ferguson acquired the residence. TP 125. So, Mr. Slye knowingly filled over the boundary line both as shown in Ex. 33 (*CP 612-614*) and Ex. 19 (*CP 594-595*).

⁶ This Exhibit has particular relevance to the assertion that the Disputed Strip reverted to its natural state because of Mrs. McKenzie’s testimony that what was “most noticeable” in 2006 was the removal by the Fergusons of the “large trees, particularly the large fir tree” which she testifies were in what is the field of view of Ex. 19 (*CP 594-595*). TP 313

The orange van is parked in the vicinity of the septic tank shown on Exs. 1 and 2 (the two oval objects). This is the same view with respect to which Mr. Slye stated that the view would be “obscured by vegetation;” TP 32:15 – 34:8, prior to Mr. Slye’s construction activities.

In Finding 17, the Court states:

Exhibit 19 depicts only a very limited area of the disputed strip where the construction was occurring. It is impossible to conclude that the whole disputed strip was cleared and planted.

However, there are 10 construction photos in evidence. If you take the time to place all the fields of view from these photos onto Ex. 2, the entirety of the Disputed Strip from a point well North of the septic tank all the way to the southern end, well over half of the surface area, is depicted in these photos and has been cleared and graded. The conclusion that the clearing and grading had the effect of clearing the view across the Strip is inescapable particularly given Mr. Slye’s testimony that the view would otherwise be “obscured by vegetation;” TP 32:15–34:8, prior to Mr. Slye’s construction activities. The western half of the Disputed Strip, from the retaining wall on the South end of the Disputed Strip to the septic tank on the north has been filled.

Prior to Mr. Slye’s construction activities, the view from the residence across the Disputed Strip would have been blocked by the “dense, lush vegetations.” TP 32:15 – 34:8. Afterwards, as described in Ex. 42, dated July 1990, (*CP 617-620*):

From the kitchen in his home on Bainbridge Island Washington, Christopher Slye enjoys 180 – degree views of Puget Sound’s quarter mile wide Rich Passage.

That is the same view seen some 24 years later in Ex. 51 (*CP 625-626*) and Ex. 54 (*CP 629-630*), taken during or after the construction of the boundary line fence by the McKenzies. Mr. Slye got the view he sold to Mr. Ferguson by clearing the Strip.

Finally, the series of circles at the south end on Ex. 2 are a retaining wall extending into the Disputed Strip installed by Mr. Slye. TP 29-30. The wall can be seen in the lower left on Ex. 53 (*CP 627-628*). Mr. Slye also installed underground electrical service on the Strip; *id*, which is not protected by an easement. TP 112.

The gravamen of this is that Mr. Slye's testimony by declaration, offered into the record by Respondents, was unquestionably untruthful and his subsequent testimony attempting to minimize his intrusions into the Disputed Strip in conjunction with his testimony about the construction photos equally untruthful.

The issue then becomes, what happened in the Disputed Strip between 1988 when construction was finished and 1994 when Mr. Ferguson took possession. The Trial Court accurately states that: "the photos of construction do not illustrate what the land looked like as it existed in 1994." Finding No. 17: *CP 544*. "Even if this Court accepts that the area was cleared during construction, that was six to seven years before D. Norman Ferguson bought the property." Finding 17: *CP 545*.

The Trial Court stated, in Finding 20:

There is little photographic evidence that can be relied upon to definitively persuade this Court that the area cleared in the construction phase remained cleared and possessed thereafter in an open notorious and hostile fashion from 1994 to 2004.

CP 545. This is true if you only look at half the photos.

Here is what Mr. Slye had to say; TP 89-90-:

Q. From the time you completed your construction on the Ferguson residence until the time you sold the Ferguson residence, did you make any changes to the disputed strip?

A. No.

At TP 83:

Q. Okay. How can you be sure that you didn't plant anything in the disputed strip?

A. Because I made a point not to. ...

Q. Prior to the sale of the Ferguson property, did you plant anything on the Ferguson property?

A. Well, I planted some flowers and roses and pampas grass, plants.

Remember the pampas grass.

Mr. Ferguson's testimony as to the condition of the Disputed Strip when he acquired it is as follows:

What vegetation was present on the disputed strip when you acquired the property on June 23, 2004? Was it pampas grass? Was it grass? Was there lawn?

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