No. 46774-7-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

D. NORMAN FERGUSON and KAREN FERGUSON,

Appellants,

and

ALLEN McKENZIE and JANE McKENZIE,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

A. Standards of review – this Court will not review the trial court's credibility determinations or reweigh the evidence.

This Court will accept the trial court's findings as verities "so long as they are supported by substantial evidence." *In re Marriage of Katare*, 175 Wn.2d 23, 35, 283 P.3d 546 (2012) (citing *Ferree v. Doric Co.*, 62 Wn.2d 561, 568, 383 P.2d 900 (1963)). "Substantial evidence" is not uncontroverted evidence — it "is that which is sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the matter asserted." *Katare*, 175 Wn.2d at 35 (citing *King County v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs Bd.*, 142 Wn.2d 543, 561, 14 P.3d 133 (2000)).

This Court will not re-weigh evidence. *Bale*, 173 Wn. App. at 458. A party challenging the court's findings of fact cannot rely on "contrary evidence and testimony that was rejected by the trial court." 173 Wn. App. at 458. Rather, this Court defers to the trial court's factual findings:

We do not reweigh or rebalance competing testimony and inferences even if we may have resolved the factual dispute differently.... This is especially true when the trial court finds the evidence *unpersuasive*. As Division Three of this court explained in *Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, Inc.*, 153 Wn. App. 710, 717, 225 P.3d 266 (2009):

The function of the appellate court is to review the action of the trial courts. Appellate courts do not hear or weigh evidence, find facts, or substitute their opinions for those of the trier-of-fact. Instead, they must defer to the factual findings made by the trier-of-fact. ...

Id. (emphasis in original).

Reweighing the evidence is markedly different from determining whether the trial court's findings are supported by substantial evidence. *Id.*; *Quinn*, 153 Wn. App. at 717. Whether evidence is sufficient to support a finding is a legal determination. *Id.* But when the evidence fails to persuade the trial court, the appellate court cannot reweigh the evidence to reach a different conclusion (*id.*) (emphasis in *Bale*):

It is one thing for an appellate court to review whether sufficient evidence supports a trial court's factual

determination. That is, in essence, a legal determination based upon factual findings made by the trial court. In contrast, where a trial court finds that evidence is insufficient to persuade it that something occurred, an appellate court is simply not permitted to reweigh the evidence and come to a contrary finding. It invades the province of the trial court for an appellate court to find compelling that which the trial court found unpersuasive.

Finally, this Court "cannot" review "[c]redibility determinations . . . on appeal." *Morse*, 149 Wn.2d at 574 (citing *Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d at 71). Rather, "credibility determinations are solely for the trier of fact." *Morse*, 149 Wn.2d at 574.

B. The trial court's findings are amply supported.

The Fergusons' entire argument is that the findings are not supported by substantial evidence. BA 25-33. The trial court's findings are in lockstep with testimony from Slye and the McKenzies. This Court should affirm.

1. Norman Ferguson admitted that he received the septic permit application, including plat maps that accurately depict the legal boundary line.

Trial exhibit D-1 is a septic system permit application Slye obtained during construction. CP 631-53. The application contains two plat maps showing the legal description of the property. CP 544, FF 16; CP 642, 644. During his deposition, Norman Fergusons was shown 6 pages of trial exhibit D-1, the last two of which are the plat maps showing the property boundaries. CP 358-63. Ferguson

acknowledged that Slye gave him the application during the purchase and sale. RP 150, 152.

This permit application is relevant to the Fergusons' claim that when Norman Ferguson purchased the property from Slye, Slye identified the boundary line as running from a boundary marker at the property's north end to a telephone pole on the property's south end. CP 542, FF 12; RP 120-22. That boundary line would include the disputed strip in the Fergusons' parcel. *Id*.

Slye denied that claim. CP 542, FF 13; RP 88-89. The trial court found that Slye testified that he gave Norman Ferguson the septic permit application during the sales negotiations. CP 542, FF 13. The court went on to find that Ferguson claimed he received only a single page. *Id.* The court found Slye more credible on this point:

On this point, Slye's testimony is more credible than D. Norman Ferguson's testimony. It is reasonable, if not likely, that Slye gave D. Norman Ferguson the entire septic system permit application, as it would make little sense for Slye to provide D. Norman Ferguson with only one page of the document. This Court is persuaded that it is more likely that Slye gave D. Norman Ferguson the entire document rather than just the cover sheet. Thus, it would be a clear contradiction and very unlikely that Slye identified the power pole as the property line marker. [That] would be nonsensical in light of the septic system permit application Slye gave to D. Norman Ferguson when they discussed the property line prior to purchase.

CP 543, FF 14.

The Fergusons challenge this credibility determination, arguing: (1) that Ferguson testified that he received only the first page of the septic permit application; and (2) that Slye never testified that he gave Ferguson the septic system permit application, or that he discussed it with Ferguson. BA 26-27. This argument is woefully incomplete.

It is accurate that after identifying D-1, Slye did not testify that he gave it to Ferguson. RP 79-82. But it is entirely inaccurate to state that Ferguson testified that he received only the first page of the septic permit application. BA 26. In fact, Ferguson was impeached by his deposition testimony, in which he acknowledged receiving from Slye during the sale process a 6-page document that included the septic permit application and the two plat maps showing the property boundaries⁵:

Q. I would like you to look again at Defendants' Exhibit D-1. That's that document you were just looking at, the application for sewage permit. Okay.

I believe your testimony was that you have only seen the first page of this document; is that right?

A. That is right.

⁵ This 6-page document is found at CP 358-63. This is exhibit 6 to Karen Fergusons' deposition. *Id.* The exhibits were the same at Norman Ferguson's deposition. RP 151.

- Q. Did you receive from Mr. Slye, or anyone else, at the time of the sale more than just the first page of this document?
- A. I don't recall ever receiving more than one page of the document.
- Q. So you believe you were just given one page of this document by Mr. Slye?
- A. That's all I remember getting. That is correct.
- Q. Do you recall reviewing that document with me at your deposition?
- A. I don't recall this specific document, no.
- Q. Okay. All the rest of the pages?
- A. Yeah. I don't recall going over the entire thing, no.
- Q. Do you recall receiving more than one page from me of this document at the deposition?
- A. I guess you did give me more than one page; that is correct.
- Q. Do you recall you acknowledged that you did, in fact, receive that document at the time of closing?
- A. I don't recall that.
- Q. Okay. Well, let's pull up your deposition and take a look.
- A. Yes.

Q. I'm going to start reading at Line 6, and I want you to follow along with me. And when I'm done, I'll ask my question.

"Take a look at Exhibit 6, please. This is an application for sewage permits. Have you seen this before?

Answer: "Yes. I saw it at the time we were doing the house sale."

Did I read that correctly, sir?

You did, sir. A.

RP 149-50, 152-53.

The Fergusons' counsel objected, arguing that this was not proper impeachment. RP 153. The McKenzies' counsel countered that the deposition testimony plainly established that counsel handed Norman Ferguson a several-page document and that Ferguson acknowledge receiving "this document." RP 154-55. The trial court agreed:

> THE COURT: And that's what I'm focusing on. Apparently the witness said at the deposition that he saw this several-page document. He didn't say "several-page," but he said this is the document, which was No. 6, at the time of the house sale."

> [McKENZIES' COUNSEL] Your honor, the deposition clearly states that I handed Mr. Ferguson a multipage document and asked if he's seen it before, and he said "Yes."

> THE COURT: And I'm -- I am going to allow this question and the answer based upon the deposition testimony.

> I understand the objection. But as far as the question at deposition, whether or not the document had been seen before -- and it's clear from what we have seen today that it's a six-page document - I'm going to accept that he was handed a six-page document and the witness said he had not seen it. Or that -

[McKENZIES' COUNSEL]: That he had seen it.

THE COURT: That he had seen it at the time of the transaction.

RP 155-57.

In short, Norman Ferguson acknowledged that Slye gave him a 6-page document that includes the septic permit application and two plat maps showing the proper boundary line. RP 150, 152-56; CP 358-63. It is irrelevant that Slye did not testify that he gave the septic permit application to Ferguson. BA 26-27. Ferguson's own testimony amply supports the trial court's finding that Ferguson received the septic permit application including the plat maps. RP 150, 152-56. And Ferguson's admission that he received this document from Slye, coupled with his later effort to back away from that admission, amply support the trial court's credibility determination in this point. BA 26-27; CP 543, FF 14.

But in any event, the Fergusons concede that this entire issue is "legally irrelevant," stating that it "literally does not matter if Mr. Ferguson knew where the boundary was in 1994." BA 27, 28. Their point is that adverse possession is not focused on the would-be possessor's thought process, or his good or bad faith, but on the nature of his possession. BA 27. Indeed, "the claimant's subjective belief regarding the claimant's true interest in the land and intent to

dispossess or not dispossess another is irrelevant." Anderson v. Hudak, 80 Wn. App. 398, 402, 907 P.2d 305 (1995).

That being the case, any error in the trial court's finding is harmless. See e.g. Jones v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.2d 322, 355-60, 314 P.3d 380 (2013). The court found Slye more credible on "this point," referring to whether Slye identified the proper legal boundary line. CP 542-43, FF 12-14. Since the Fergusons' acknowledge that it "literally does not matter if Mr. Ferguson knew where the boundary line was," then it "literally does not matter" whether Slye identified the proper legal boundary.

2. Substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding 18 that Slye encroached on the disputed strip for the limited purpose of construction, after which the affected area regrew.

The trial court accepted testimony from Slye and Jane McKenzie that the McKenzies permitted Slye to encroach on the disputed strip for construction purposes only, after which the affected area regrew. CP 545, FF 18. As Slye put it, Jane gave him permission to use a portion of the disputed strip during construction, because he "asked them nicely." RP 86-87, 90. And as Jane put it, it was "apparent that it was necessary" for the construction process to impact the McKenzie property. RP 240. Slye was a "nice young

man," so the McKenzies had no problem accommodating him. RP 241.6

The trial court rejected the Fergusons' argument that Slye sought the McKenzies' permission to encroach for construction purposes, only to turn around and clear the disputed strip, maintaining it for six or seven years until selling to Norman Ferguson in 1994. CP 545, FF 18. Again, Slye, Jane and Bruce McKenzie all testified that the area affected by Slye's construction regrew and remained heavily vegetated until late 2006, or early 2007. RP 92, 250-52, 318, 324.

The Fergusons ask this Court to compare photographs, arguing that the only way Slye obtained the view described in a home magazine was by "denuding the Strip of vegetation." BA 28-29. They ask this Court to reject testimony from Slye and Jane and Bruce McKenzie – that the trial court believed – and hold that finding 18 is unsupported. *Id.* In short, the Fergusons ask this court to do something appellate courts cannot do. Again:

[W]here a trial court finds that evidence is insufficient to persuade it that something occurred, an appellate court is simply not permitted to reweigh the evidence and come to a

⁶ Jane did not recall expressly giving Slye permission to encroach on the disputed strip during construction, but stated that they may have talked about it. RP 240.

contrary finding. It invades the province of the trial court for an appellate court to find compelling that which the trial court found unpersuasive.

Quinn, 153 Wn. App. at 717. That is exactly what the Fergusons ask this Court to do. BA 28-29.

Since the Fergusons challenge the trial court's findings, this Court's role is to determine whether sufficient evidence supports them. 153 Wn. App. at 717. The issue, then, is whether testimony from Slye and Jane and Bruce McKenzie is sufficient to support finding 18. It plainly is, and this Court should affirm.

The trial court was unpersuaded by the photos that Slye "denuded" the disputed strip. *Compare* BA 29 *with* CP 544-46, FF 17-20. Indeed, the trial court specifically found that the photos proved little:

- ◆ The photos show only partial areas of the disputed strip. . . . It is impossible to conclude that the whole disputed strip was cleared and planted. CP 544, FF 17.
- ♦ The photos of the construction site do not illustrate what the land looked like as it existed in 1994. *Id.*
- ◆ There is little photographic evidence that can be relied upon to definitively persuade this Court that the area cleared in the construction phase, remained cleared and thereafter possessed in an open, notorious, and hostile fashion from 1994 to 2004. CP 545, FF 20.
- [Photos purporting to show that Slye cleared the disputed strip] are ambiguous as to angle and depth and of limited value in drawing definitive and reliable conclusions. CP 546, FF 20.

This Court should reject the invitation to review the very photos the trial court found unpersuasive to reach a contrary decision. *Quinn*, 153 Wn. App. at 717.

3. Sufficient evidence supports finding 18 that Slye allowed the area in the disputed strip affected by construction to regrow.

The trial court found that after Slye completed construction, any area in the disputed strip affected by the construction regrew:

This Court accepts that the encroachment was for a limited time and purpose, and that after the construction, the area affected regrew and returned to its natural state by 1994.

CP 545, FF 18. Again, this Court's inquiry is whether there is substantial evidence to support this finding. *Bale*, 173 Wn. App. at 458. There is – Slye plainly testified that the affected areas regrew after he completed construction. RP 92. The McKenzies also plainly testified that the disputed strip was heavily vegetated until 2006. RP 250-52, 324. This Court should affirm.

Here too, the Fergusons ask this Court to reject this testimony

– that the trial court believed – and make a contrary factual finding
based on pictures of pampas grass and the same magazine
description discussed above. BA 29-30. That would plainly invade
the trial court's province. *Quinn*, 153 Wn. App. at 717. Again, this
Court should affirm.

a. The pampas grass is a red herring.

The Fergusons next attack Slye's assertion that he planted pampas grass on his property, but did not plant anything in the disputed strip. BA 29, 31; RP 82-83, 92. Relying on photos purporting to show pampas grass in the disputed strip, the Fergusons accuse Slye of making "a blatant misstatement of fact," arguing "Well, pampas grass is not native and not natural state." BA 31. The Fergusons are apparently asking this Court to look at photos to impeach Slye. BA 29.

The pampas grass is a red herring. The trial court simply did not believe that Slye cleared the disputed strip and maintained it after completing his construction. CP 545, FF 18. The court did not believe that Slye would seek the McKenzies permission for construction purposes and then exceed the scope of the permission he was given. *Id.* The court did not believe that Jane McKenzie would give Slye permission, and then watch as he cleared her property – and planted pampas grass. *Id.* The court did not believe these things because they are unbelievable. *Id.*

But even assuming arguendo that there is pampas grass in the disputed strip, there is no indicated Slye put it there. Slye plainly stated that he did not do so. RP 82-83, 92. The trial court either believed Slye, or found the pampas grass irrelevant. There is no finding specifically addressing pampas grass, and the Fergusons proposed no findings.

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